
CABINET 

Monday, 2nd November, 2015

7.00 pm

Town Hall Watford

Publication date: 23 October 2015

CONTACT
If you require further information or you would like a copy of this agenda in another format, 
e.g. large print, please contact Caroline Harris Democratic Services Manager on 01923 
278372 or by email – legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk .

mailto:legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk


Welcome to this meeting.  We hope you find these notes useful.

ACCESS

Access to the Town Hall after 5.15 pm is via the Customer Service Centre.

Visitors may park in the staff car park after 4.00 p.m. and before 7.00 a.m.  This is a Pay 
and Display car park; the current charge is £1.50 per visit.

The Committee Rooms are on the first floor of the Town Hall and a lift is available.
Induction loops are available in the Committee Rooms.

TOILETS (including disabled)

Toilets are situated on the first floor, near the Committee Rooms.

FIRE/EMERGENCY INSTRUCTIONS

In the event of a fire alarm sounding, vacate the building immediately following the 
instructions given by the Democratic Services Officer.

 Do not use the lifts
 Do not stop to collect personal belongings
 Go to the assembly point at the Pond and wait for further instructions
 Do not re-enter the building until authorised to do so.

MOBILE PHONES

Please ensure that mobile phones are switched off or on silent before the start of the 
meeting.

FILMING / PHOTOGRAPHY / RECORDING / REPORTING

Please note: this meeting might be filmed / photographed / recorded / reported by a party 
other than Watford Borough Council for subsequent broadcast or publication.

If you do not wish to have your image / voice captured you should let the Chair or 
Democratic Services Officer know before the start of the meeting.

An audio recording may be taken at this meeting for administrative purposes only.



CABINET MEMBERSHIP

Mayor D Thornhill (Chair)
Councillor D Scudder (Deputy Mayor)
Councillors S Johnson, I Sharpe, P Taylor and M Watkin

AGENDA

PART A - OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2. DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST (IF ANY) 

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2015 to be submitted and 
signed.

Copies of the minutes of this meeting are usually available seven working days 
following the meeting.

(All minutes are available on the Council’s website.)

4. CONDUCT OF MEETING 

The Cabinet may wish to consider whether there are any items on which there is 
general agreement which could be considered now, to enable discussion to focus 
on those items where the Cabinet sees a need for further debate.

5. PETITION 

A petition has been received in the following terms:

“Please sign this petition if you agree that Kings Avenue should be full day (8am to 
6:30pm Monday to Saturday) parking control zone”

At the time of publication of the agenda the petition contained 71 signatures.

6. LOCAL PLAN PART 2 - ADDITIONAL POLICY ON TALL BUILDINGS (Pages 5 - 
12)

Report of Head of Regeneration and Development

http://watford.moderngov.co.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1




 

PART A 

Report to: Cabinet
Date of meeting: 2nd November 2015
Report of: Head of Regeneration and Development
Title: Local Plan Part 2 – additional policy on tall buildings

1.0 SUMMARY

1.1 There has been a significant increase in pre-application discussions for tall buildings. 
Whilst such schemes could help deliver future housing and provide employment 
opportunities they could fundamentally change the skyline and character of the 
Borough. Existing planning policy requires strengthening to prevent inappropriate tall 
building development given the Government’s desire to increase housing supply. 
This report considers the work being undertaken to support a Tall Buildings policy for 
inclusion in Local Plan 2 of which an early draft is contained in the attached 
appendix.  A more developed policy will be subject to public consultation and a 
sustainability appraisal and revised if necessary before inclusion in the publication 
version of Local Plan Part 2 in 2016. 

1.2 Due to the time to take a planning policy through external examination and adoption, 
coupled with impending applications being made, a Tall Buildings Supplementary 
Planning Document is also being prepared for consultation – to guide tall building 
development and to assist decision makers ahead of formal adoption of Local Plan 
Part 2.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That members endorse the broad approach to tall buildings and support further work 
being undertaken to prepare a policy for inclusion in Local Plan Part 2.

2.2 That members support the preparation of a tall buildings supplementary planning 
document to guide such development and to assist decision makers in advance of 
the adoption of LP2.

2.3 That  the Head of Regeneration and Development in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Regeneration and Development has delegated authority to agree the 
wording of a draft Tall Buildings Policy and supplementary planning document for 
consultation, to undertake that consultation and report back to Cabinet following the 
conclusion of the consultation. 



 

Contact Officer: 
For further information on this report please contact: Vicky Owen, Spatial 
Planning Manager
telephone extension: 8281email: vicky.owen@watford.gov.uk

Report approved by: Jane Custance, Head of Regeneration and 
Development.

3.0 DETAILED PROPOSAL
3.1 An increase in the delivery of housing is the key planning priority for the government.  

Housing demand is acknowledged to be high in this area.  Proposals for tall residential 
schemes are consequently beginning to come forward in greater numbers.  These 
schemes are typically 15 -25 storeys. By way of context, Watford’s YMCA is the 
equivalent of 11-12 storeys.

3.2 Whilst the Borough of Watford is highly urbanised, the density of development in most 
of the Borough is relatively low.  Watford contains a number of distinctive urban 
character areas, including conservation areas, which contribute to local identity and 
consequently need to be protected in terms of siting tall buildings, their detailed design 
and integration with existing communities. 

3.3 Being mindful of the failures of some previous tall buildings and that Watford is not 
considered a suitable location for very tall buildings, officers are concerned that the 
existing and emerging policies in LP2 may not be sufficient to ensure that taller 
buildings are only located in the most appropriate locations, are of exceptional build 
quality, and create places where people want to live, work and visit.  Officers have 
been working with Design South East to draft a tall buildings policy which could be 
included in Local Plan 2.  By having a policy framework, this would also avoid some 
inappropriate applications or pre-application approaches for very tall buildings.

3.4 Although Core Strategy Policy UD1 does afford some protection with regard to quality 
and impact on adjoining areas there is currently no specific policy to assess tall 
building applications.  With the government emphasis on delivering housing there is a 
risk that if schemes containing tall buildings were refused under UD1 the decision 
could be challenged on appeal, and costs could be incurred.

3.5 Following on from the officer and member workshops with Design South East held in 
August 2015, an emerging policy was discussed by the Planning Policy Advisory 
Group in September 2015. The emerging policy is contained in Appendix A.

3.6 Whilst this is still work in progress, the final policy will need to define what we mean by 
tall buildings and where they might be considered appropriate. A number of other 
authorities have been tackling this issue and have come up with the following range of 
approaches:



 

Other local authorities local plan definition of tall buildings 

Mid-rise Tall Very Tall
Hackney (2014) 18-29 metres(6-9 

storeys)
30-45 
metres(10-15 
storeys)

46 metres + (16 
storeys)

Adur-Worthing Cabe 
standards/EH 
guidance

Wandsworth/
Nine Elms

No breakdown of category locational metre restriction. Up 
to 150m Vauxhall tower 180m

Portsmouth 2012 6 stores or 20m 
+

Reading 2008 Over 10 
commercial 
storeys or 
equivalent.

Landmark 
towers up to 25 
towers.

Birmingham 2003 15 storeys 
8 storeys

Brent 25+ m high (82 
feet or 9 storeys)

Barnet (2006) 30m +height
Ealing (2004) 20m+ 
Merton (2010) Suburban 

low rise – 
0-3

Mid 
rise 4-6

High rise 7-10
Prominent High 
rise – 11+

Large one off 
landmarks

3.7 Officers consider that an approach similar to that used by Merton would be appropriate 
in Watford, and that it would be appropriate to refer to building heights in metres as 
well as number of storeys.  This approach was supported by members of the Planning 
Policy Advisory Group who agreed that:

 it was important for the Council to take a proactive approach on this issue.  This 
should identify a limited number of landmark sites

 any policy should include guidelines defining tall buildings – members 
supported a similar approach to that taken in Merton

 high quality design was crucial for all parts of the development, including any 
social or affordable housing

 developments should give proper consideration to public amenities and play 
areas to encourage a sense of community

 underground car parking was desirable
 any new developments should undertake appropriate archaeological surveys.

3.8 The proposed policy would identify which areas might be suitable for tall buildings, the 
range of heights that could be appropriate and other relevant factors such as views to 
be protected.

3.9 Other matters being considered include setting out how many tall buildings might be 
appropriate in area specific locations, the number and nature of taller building clusters; 



 

how different uses can be integrated both vertically and horizontally within the building 
to support new and existing communities and whether public art should be an integral 
part of the scheme.

3.10 Work is currently being progressed on the evidence to support the policy in terms of 
identifying the most appropriate locations for tall buildings, the scale that could be 
achieved in those locations and the views and vistas that could be protected or 
enhanced by a landmark building.  A further workshop with Design South East has 
been arranged for 4 November which will further inform the policy and potential 
locations.

3.11 Given that Local Plan 2 will not be adopted until 2017 and that applications for tall 
buildings will soon be made, it is proposed that work on a Tall Buildings 
Supplementary Planning Document is progressed which would set out detailed design 
advice for tall buildings, which could support the adopted Core Strategy policies, and 
be used ahead of the adoption of LP2.  This would be subject to consultation 
alongside the draft policy.

4.0 IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Financial

4.1.1 The Shared Director of Finance comments that the costs associated with consultation 
will be covered by the Local Plan budget. 

4.2 Legal Issues (Monitoring Officer)

4.2.1 The Head of Democracy and Governance comments that the legal implications are 
contained in the body of the report.

4.3 Equalities

4.3.1 Policy UD1 of the adopted Core Strategy already requires design of new 
developments to be inclusive. An equalities impact assessment of the Local Plan Part 
2 will be undertaken before the policies progress to publication stage.

4.4 Potential Risks

Note that the table below sets out the risks associated with not including a policy on 
tall buildings in Local Plan Part 2.  It is considered that the preparation of a policy and 
a supplementary planning document will mitigate the risks and provide clarity to future 
investors.

Potential Risk Likelihood Impact Overall 
score

Without a policy, multiple  tall buildings applications 
could be received on an ad hoc basis across the 
borough rather than in planned locations.

3 3 9

Risk of appeal costs 3 3 9
Lack of policy could undermine role of SPAs 3 3 9
Tall buildings in wrong locations would increase 
service demands ( e.g. school places)

2 2 4



 

Those risks scoring 9 or above are considered significant and will need specific attention in 
project management. They will also be added to the service’s Risk Register.

4.5 Staffing

4.5.1 No specific staffing implications.

4.6 Accommodation

4.6.1 No accommodation implications

4.7 Community Safety

4.7.1 Community Safety is covered by Policy UD1 of the adopted Core Strategy, which will 
apply alongside any tall buildings policy.

4.8 Sustainability

4.8.1 All Local Plan policies are subject to sustainability appraisal which will also be 
consulted upon before the plan is submitted for examination.

Appendices

Appendix A – draft tall buildings policy.

Background Papers

None

File Reference

None





Appendix A

Tall Buildings – Emerging Policy

A strategic approach to the location and design of tall buildings is necessary 
to create successful places and improve regeneration and economic success 
in Watford

Tall buildings should:

a) Achieve high architectural quality (this will be defined with reference to the 
‘Character of the Area Study) and innovative design (which includes 
sustainable design and construction practices);

b) Achieve a good relationship to other buildings and structures, the street 
network/development at street level, public and private open spaces 
(particularly at street level), and/or other townscape elements and 
characteristics; and which has ground floor activities;

c) Provide a positive contribution to the skyline, when perceived from all 
angles during both the day and night, ensuring that important local views and 
vistas are protected;

d) Where residential uses are proposed, include high quality and useable 
private and communal amenity space and ensure an innovative approach to 
the provision of open space;

e) Not adversely impact on sensitive locations such as: heritage assets, local 
views, conservation areas, listed buildings, including their settings and 
backdrops, or other areas which have been designated as inappropriate for 
tall buildings;

f) Not adversely impact on; the microclimate of the surrounding area, including 
the proposal site and public spaces, or the biodiversity of open spaces, 
including watercourses and waterbodies and their hydrology, as well as their 
settings and views to and from them;

g) Provide positive social and economic benefits and contribute to socially 
balanced and inclusive communities; 

h) Comply with aviation and navigation operational requirements and not 
interfere, to an unacceptable degree, with telecommunication, television and 
radio transmission networks; and

i) Demonstrate consideration of public safety requirements as part of the 
overall design, including the provision of evacuation routes.



Any proposal should be accompanied by a statement showing how it has 
considered scale, form of the proposal, density, impact on townscape, public 
realm (including street trees), massing, bulk, footprint, proportion and 
silhouette, architectural lighting effects, facing materials as well as 
demonstrating that the proposal is proportionate to its location and sensitive to 
the context of its surroundings.

The policy will also identify where tall buildings may be appropriate, and show 
potential locations on a map.


	Agenda
	6 Local Plan Part 2 - additional policy on tall buildings
	Appendix A


